AGREEMENT

**BETWEEN** 

# THE CITY OF PADUCAH

# AND

THE AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY, AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES

# AFL-CIO, LOCAL 1586

JULY 1, 2023 - JUNE 30, 2026

# Table of Contents

CONTRACT
PREAMBLE
1. UNION SECURITY
2. DISCIPLINE
3. GRIEVANCE AND MEDIATION PROCEDURE
4. PLEDGE AGAINST DISCRIMINATION AND COERCION
5. VACATION
6. SICK LEAVE
7. HOLIDAYS
8. JURY DUTY
9. UNION BUSINESS
10. SAFETY COMMITTEE
11. SAFETY SHOES & CLOTHING
12. HOURS OF WORK
13. SEVERABILITY
14. WAIVER IN EMERGENCY
15. LABOR/MANAGEMENT MEETINGS
16. DEFINITIONS
17. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS
18. WORK RULES
19. CIVIL SERVICE PROTECTION
20. TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT
21. MISCELLANEOUS
22. OUTSIDE CONTRACTING
23. SAFETY
24. PROBATIONARY PERIOD
25. CONTINUITY OF OPERATION
26. WAGE AND BENEFITS
27. INDIVIDUAL AGREEMENT
28. DURATION
SIGNATURE PAGE

### CONTRACT

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this 1st day of July 2021, by and between the CITY OF PADUCAH hereinafter referred to as the "City" and the AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES, AFL CIO, LOCAL 1586, hereinafter referred to as the "Union".

#### PREAMBLE

It is the intent of the parties that this contract constitutes a complete agreement between the parties hereto, and that it shall remain in effect except as hereinafter amended, altered or modified, and that no additions, waivers, deletions, changes or amendments shall be made during the term of this contract except by written agreement of the parties.

It is understood that no incident by the City or Union, which occurred prior to the date of this contract, shall be the subject of complaint under any of the procedures provided in this contract.

### **1. UNION SECURITY**

A. RECOGNITION

1. The City agrees to recognize the Union as the exclusive bargaining agent for the purpose of collective bargaining in the settlement of disputes which may arise concerning wage rates, working conditions, hours of employment, dismissal, discrimination or other conditions of employment.

2. The City and the Union do hereby agree that the unit appropriate for such bargaining purposes shall consist of permanent full time, non-supervisory employees within a combination of the following (meeting one criteria in each category): Departments, Divisions and Classifications. Departments, Engineering-Public Works and Parks Services; Divisions, Parks Maintenance, Maintenance, Solid Waste, Floodwall, and Street; Classifications, Compost Equipment Operator, Concrete Finisher, Equipment Operator, Laborer, Maintenance Technician, Right of Way Maintenance Person, Traffic Technician, Truck Driver and Floodwall Operator. All other City employees shall be excluded from the bargaining unit.

3. The City agrees not to discriminate against any employee because of Union membership or lawful Union activity, and the Union agrees not to solicit for membership, collect Union funds, or engage in other Union activity on City time unless specifically provided for in this agreement.

#### B. MEMBERSHIP DUES DEDUCTION

1. The Employer and the Union agree that membership in the Union is available to all employees occupying bargaining unit positions after serving their probationary period. In addition the Union and the City agree to conform to prevailing State of Kentucky Law with respect to the exercise of Right to Work practices for Membership Dues Deduction.

2. The Employer agrees to deduct Union membership dues once each month from the pay of any employee eligible for membership in the bargaining unit upon receipt of a written authorization signed individually and voluntarily by the employee. The signed payroll deduction form must be presented to the Employer's Finance Director by the employee or the Union Treasurer. Upon receipt of the authorization, the employer will withhold the sum as certified by the Union as its uniform dues from the employee's pay in the pay period in the month following receipt of the authorization. The sum of all dues collected shall be remitted to the Union treasurer within ten (10) days of the deduction.

3. Dues check off authorizations shall be honored for the term of this Agreement, except that any employee may revoke his authorization during the month of December of each year of the agreement. There shall be no other revocation period. The revocation shall be in writing to the City and the Union.

4. The Employer assumes no obligation of any kind arising out of its deduction of dues. The Union shall indemnify and save the Employer harmless from any claim, action or proceeding brought by any person against it as a result of its dues deduction. Once dues are remitted to the Union, their disposition thereafter shall be its sole obligation and responsibility.

5. The Employer shall be relieved from making dues deductions when an employee terminates his employment, transfers to a position outside the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement is laid off from work, revokes his authorization pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, is on unpaid leave of absence or for any reason fails to earn sufficient wages to make all legally required deductions such as taxes, FICA, etc., in addition to the deduction of Union dues.

6. No employee shall be required to join the Union, but membership in the Union shall be available to all employees who apply, consistent with the Union's Constitution and By-Laws.

### 2. DISCIPLINE

A. At any disciplinary proceeding, an employee shall be entitled to representation by the Steward or other selected employee Union Representative when the Steward is not available. Under no circumstances shall any action cease due to the unavailability of a Union Representative. A disciplinary action proceeding shall be distinguished from an investigative fact gathering meeting.

B. It is agreed that disciplinary action shall not be imposed upon an employee except for just cause.

C. Any proposed disciplinary action involving discharge, suspension, or reduction in grade or pay (NON CIVIL SERVICE ONLY), shall be subject to the grievance procedure.

D. Although harsh disciplinary action may be imposed for severe infractions, in most cases the City shall adhere to the principle of progressive discipline. This disciplinary action shall include:

- i. Verbal Warning
- ii. Written Reprimand
- iii. Suspension

AFSCME Contract – July 1, 2023 / June 30, 2026

Page 4

E. Any discipline to be imposed shall be initiated as soon as reasonably possible, but no later than five (5) working days following the completion of the incident investigation recommended by the Department Director. The investigation is to be completed within 15 days of the Director's knowledge where it is practical. Records of disciplinary action shall be a permanent part of an employee's personnel record; however, verbal and written warning will not be considered after 30 months unless a repeated pattern of unacceptable behavior is demonstrated by the employee. This will not place an employee into a double jeopardy situation for disciplinary action, but does allow the City to begin the progressive disciplinary process at the appropriate level.

### 3. GRIEVANCE AND MEDIATION PROCEDURE

A. Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties including the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement shall be settled in the following manner:

1. STEP ONE: The Union Steward, with or without the employee, shall present the grievance to the employee's immediate supervisor (in certain cases it may be appropriate to advance in the chain of command to file a grievance) within five (5) working days of its occurrence or within five (5) working days of knowledge of the occurrence by the employee. The grievance must state the contract provision(s) violated, the relief sought, the facts supporting the grievance, and must be signed by the aggrieved employee. The supervisor shall then attempt to adjust the matter and shall respond to the Steward or the employee; whichever has presented the grievance, within five (5) working days. The Union Steward will be allowed a reasonable length of time to discuss adjustment of the grievance with the appropriate supervisor.

2. STEP TWO: If the grievance has not been settled, it shall be presented in writing by the Union steward, OR the employee to the department head within five (5) working days after the supervisor's response is due. The department head shall respond in writing to the party presenting the grievance within ten (10) working days.

3. STEP THREE: If the grievance remains unadjusted, it may then be presented by the Union Steward, OR employee to the City Manager in writing within three (3) working days after the response of the department head is due. The City Manager shall respond in writing to the party presenting the grievance within fifteen (15) working days.

4. STEP FOUR: Mediation If the grievance is not resolved at STEP 3, and the employee and the Union desire to proceed with the grievance then the employee and the Union may request mediation by the Kentucky Labor Cabinet or any other mutually agreed upon mediator. The mediator shall have five (5) working days to set a date for the mediation hearing within thirty (30) days. The mediator shall attempt to mediate the dispute at the hearing. Should the mediator fail to resolve the dispute, then either party may request a written advisory opinion from the mediator. The mediator shall be without power or authority to alter, amend or modify any of the terms of this Agreement. The decision of the mediator shall be submitted in writing within a reasonable time, but not later than thirty (30) days after

the date of the hearing. The parties expressly agree that the City and the Union both have the right to accept or reject the mediator's decision.

5. STEP FIVE: If the grievance remains unadjusted, it may then be presented by the Union Steward, OR the employee to the Board of Commissioners in writing within three (3) working days after the response of the mediator is due. The statement of the grievance shall be filed with the City Clerk not later than 4:30 p.m. on the last day permitted for the filing of the grievance at this step. The written statement of appeal of the grievance shall set forth all the reasons and grounds for the grievance and the appeal to the Board together with a statement of the relief sought. A copy of all previous written documents involved in the action including any advisory opinion of the mediator shall be attached to the grievance and made a part thereof. The grievance will be placed on the Commission agenda within three weeks after it is presented. A vote of three Commissioners will be required to deny the grievance.

B. If the Union fails to respond within the time limits stated in any step of the grievance procedure, the grievance shall be considered to be unsatisfactorily settled with the City's last stated position, unless the time limits are extended by mutual agreement of the City and the Union. Failure by the City to answer a grievance within the time period prescribed in Steps 1 through 3 shall constitute a denial of the grievance unless the time limits are extended by mutual agreement of the City and the Union.

C. Up to three employees (Union President, Steward and Grievant) may be reimbursed for as much as 30 minutes each at Step 1 through Step 3 of the Grievance Procedure.

D. Expenses for the mediator's services in the proceedings shall be borne equally by the City and the Union or employee, provided, however, that each party shall be responsible for compensating his/her own representatives and witnesses. If either party desires a transcript of the proceedings, it may cause such a record to be made, but shall bear the cost, unless the transcript is taken by mutual agreement. Each party shall be responsible for providing his/her own copy. In the event the mediator requires a verbatim record of the proceedings, the original transcript shall be borne equally by both parties.

E. The Union reserves the right to settle a grievance at any step.

## 4. PLEDGE AGAINST DISCRIMINATION AND COERCION

A. The provisions of this Agreement shall be applied equally to all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination as to age, sex, marital status, race, color, creed, national origin, or political affiliation. The Union shall share equally with the City the responsibility for applying this provision of the agreement.

B. The City agrees not to interfere with the rights of an employee to become a member of the Union, and there shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint or coercion by the City or any of its supervisors and agents against any employee because of union membership or because of any activity in an official capacity on behalf of the Union.

C. The Union recognizes its responsibilities herein and agrees to represent all employees in the bargaining unit without discrimination, interference, restraint or coercion.

### **5. VACATION**

A. No vacation leave shall be credited to any employee until such time as he has worked for the City for six (6) consecutive months, after which time vacation leave shall be credited from the date of employment.

B. All employees of the Union shall receive vacation time as follows:

During the first nine (9) years of employment, vacation time shall accrue per pay period for a total of 120 hours per year.

At the beginning of the tenth year, vacation time shall accrue per pay period for a total of 160 hours per year.

At the beginning of the fifteenth year, vacation time shall accrue per pay period for a total of 200 hours per year.

At the beginning of the twentieth year, vacation time shall accrue per pay period for a total of 240 hours per year

C. Each member may accrue up to a maximum of 400 hours of vacation at any one time. Absence for a fraction or part of a day that is chargeable to vacation in accordance with the provisions of this article shall be charged proportionately in an amount not smaller than one (1) hour increments.

D. Each Division Supervisor shall prepare a schedule of vacation for the entire year indicating how many employees may be gone from work within the department at any one time, and request for vacations shall be applied for on a basis of seniority during the period from January I through March 31. Accrued time not originally applied for may be taken with the approval of the immediate supervisor at any time. Employees shall submit requests for vacation leave by March 15th of each year. Management will provide written responses to each request by March 31st of each year.

E. The number vacation days credited to each employee shall be printed on employee pay stubs.

## 6. SICK LEAVE

A. Employees shall be entitled to accrue sick leave time. The accrual rate of sick leave shall be at the rate of one and one half (1 1/2) working days for each month of service. A month in which a salaried employee is paid for fifteen (15) days or more and a daily or hourly employee is paid for twelve (12) days or more, shall be considered a month of service.

B. Retirement Time Purchase [Applicable only to employees hired prior to 01/01/2014]: When an employee retires the City will purchase one day of retirement credit for each sick day accumulated up to a maximum of one year's retirement credit (242 days). An employee must have a minimum of 50 days accrued sick time at the time of retirement to receive this benefit. This benefit is contingent on CERS approval.

C. Death Benefit: If an employee dies, the surviving spouse or designated beneficiary shall be entitled to the same unused sick leave benefits option as elected by the employee, either the retirement time purchase benefit described in paragraph 2 above or the payment alternative described in paragraph 4 below.

D. Payment alternative: Members of the bargaining unit hired prior to 01/01/2014 may elect the following benefit in lieu of the Retirement Time Purchase described in Paragraph 2.

1. Upon retirement, employees electing the payment alternative who have over 50 days of sick leave accumulated shall be paid an amount equivalent to one day's regular pay for all sick days accumulated over 50 days up to a maximum of 70 days' pay.

2. Current employees who desire to select this payment alternative in lieu of the Retirement Time Purchase benefit in Paragraph 2 must state their desire in writing to the City Human Resources Director before 4:30 p.m. June 30, 2004. Employees hired after this contract is executed who desire to select this payment alternative in lieu of the retirement time purchase benefit in Paragraph 2 must state their desire in writing to the City Human Resources Director within 90 days of their date of employment.

3. Employees who select this payment alternative may accrue a maximum of 150 days of sick leave. All other employees may accrue a maximum of 242 days of sick leave.

E. Sick leave extensions for serious and unusual circumstances may be approved by the City Manager at his discretion. The initial request for a sick leave extension will be submitted to the employee's department head.

F. The employee, the employee's spouse or someone on behalf of the employee must notify the department of an illness or need for sick leave not later than one hour after the time the employee is scheduled to report to work in order for the employee to be eligible for pay, except for extenuating circumstances which justifiably preclude the notification.

G. The number of sick days credited to each employee shall be printed on employee pay stubs.

H. The City and the Union agree that an employee who abuses sick leave may be disciplined pursuant to the discipline article of the contract. It is agreed that employees may be required to provide a medical statement following a written warning. It is agreed that employees will not be required to provide a medical statement beyond the twelve months, required by City Policy and Procedures governing sick leave abuse.

#### 7. HOLIDAYS

A. The following days shall be recognized as holidays:

New Year's Eve	Thanksgiving Day
New Year's Day	Day after Thanksgiving
Memorial Day	Christmas Eve
Juneteenth	Christmas Day
Independence Day	
Labor Day	Personal Day observed at discretion of employee
Martin Luther King B Da	у У

B. If any of the above holidays fall on Sunday, Monday shall be recognized as the holiday. If any of the above holidays fall on Saturday, the preceding Friday will be recognized as the holiday. For those employees who regularly work on Saturday and/or Sunday, the same criteria shall apply for the days recognized as those employees' weekend.

C. Employees will be paid for recognized holidays where qualified, in an amount equivalent to eight times the employee's hourly rate or the equivalent to one day's pay. Employees who are required to work on a recognized holiday shall be further compensated at one and one half (1 ½) times their straight time hourly rate.

D. To qualify for holiday pay an employee must work his/her regularly scheduled shift the day preceding and the day following the holiday or work the actual holiday unless properly excused.

E. Employees qualifying to receive holiday pay will receive credit for those hours as hours worked for the purpose of calculating overtime.

### 8. JURY DUTY

An employee who is called to jury duty may be excused from work until released from the court. Said employee will present court notice to his/her department head. The employee who has been excused will be paid his/her normal straight time earnings while on jury duty and may retain the fees received from court. Only scheduled workdays actually spent in court shall be counted in calculating payment. An employee who is not required to report for jury duty during a session on a certain date shall report to work. An employee who is not called at the opening of court for actual duty and who is excused for the remainder of the day shall report for work within one (1) hour after being excused. 9. UNION BUSINESS

Union Members may attend Union functions for up to ten (10) Business days cumulatively annually utilizing an unpaid leave of absence. The Union President shall notify both Department Directors giving written notice two weeks in advance.

### **10. SAFETY COMMITTEE**

The Safety Committee shall have representatives from each department to include a bargaining unit representative. Meetings will be subject to call by the HR Director.

# **11. SAFETY SHOES & CLOTHING**

A. The City agrees to make available to each employee covered by this contract a \$300 boot allowance each year, to be included in the employees' pay on the second paycheck immediately following July 1 each year. Footwear must be worn at all times per City PPE policy, and must comply with OSHA 1910.136 or ANSI Z41-1991 to qualify for reimbursement.

B. Janitorial/Custodial personnel are exempt from wearing safety shoes and will receive one-half of the boot allowance listed above.

C. Outdoor clothing shall be issued at hire date and replaced on three (3) year cycles.

## **12. HOURS OF WORK**

A. DEFINITIONS

1. The payroll week shall consist of seven days extending from Thursday at 12:01 am. To Wednesday 12:00 am. Unless it is changed to an alternative seven day period by City Commission ordinance.

2. The normal workweek shall consist of forty (40) hours within the payroll week.

3. The normal workweek shall also be Monday through Friday; however, supervision may schedule an employee for other than Monday through Friday when deemed appropriate.

4. The normal workday shall consist of eight (8) hours of work, or a normal schedule of four (4) consecutive ten (10) hour days.

5. Employees may be assigned to work a flexible work schedule that provides for irregular starting times.

6. The City will make every effort to notify an employee one week in advance before making a work schedule change, but as a minimum twenty four (24) hours in advance.

#### B. OVERTIME

1. Employees who work more than forty (40) hours in any one-payroll week shall be paid one and one half times the base straight time hourly rate for all excess hours worked.

2. For the purposes of calculating overtime, Bereavement Leave shall be considered "hours worked."

3. Employees required to work more than nine full days straight will be compensated at two times the base straight time hourly rate for all hours worked beginning with the 10th day and continuing until the employee receives a full day off. A full day shall be defined as an employee working the number of hours in their regular scheduled shift. A shift is either eight (8) hours or ten (10) hours depending on their schedule.

4. When an employee is called in and required to work overtime, he shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours of overtime at one and one-half his regular straight-time hourly rate, regardless of whether such employee works two full hours or not. During said two hour period of time he may be subject to more than one assignment. In the event the employee works beyond two (2) hours during the same overtime period, said employee shall receive time and one-half for each hour or part of an hour after the two (2) hours period expires. Employees receiving call out pay will be paid time and one-half for the duration of the call out assignment regardless of any leave taken during the pay cycle in which the call out occurs, including: sick leave, vacation leave, jury duty, etc. Employees who have served suspension without pay during the FLSA work cycle in which call out occurs will be ineligible for time and one-half rate of pay.

5. Employees who work overtime shall not be required to take time off to offset the overtime worked, although the employee may request time off at an alternate time during the work week in lieu of compensation for the extra hours of work, subject to supervisory approval. In the event the employees who work extended overtime are required by the City to take rest time off from the job, the employees shall be compensated at their regular straight time rate for any such rest time which extends into their next regular shift. Employees shall not be required to take vacation time as compensation for said rest time.

6. As needed, employees will be required to work hours in excess of that set forth herein, and will receive pay at the overtime rate as set out in subsection 1 above. When an employee is scheduled for overtime work he will be paid not less than two (2) hours. During said two (2) hour period he may be subject to more than one assignment.

7. Overtime offered immediately prior to or at the end of the workday will be assigned to the employees who have been performing that work unless an employee has a special family obligation that

conflicts with the assignment. Such overtime may or may not be scheduled. Other overtime will be assigned in accordance with the following guidelines.

8. Seniority will prevail for all overtime work on a rotation basis except where qualification and expertise are an issue:

- a. Overtime work shall be distributed equally to employees working within the same job classification and by department, where possible. The distribution of overtime shall be equalized over each six-month period beginning on the first day of January and the first day of July each year. On each occasion, the opportunity to work overtime shall be offered to the employee within the job classification, and department where possible, who has the least number of overtime hours to his credit at that time. If this employee is not available to answer a call after two (2) consecutive call-in occasions in a six (6) month period or does not accept the assignment, he/she will be charged with such overtime hours to his credit shall be offered the assignment. The City shall not be obligated to contact employees who are off duty other than by telephone.
- Each supervisor shall maintain an overtime record on an overtime chart provided to him.
  Overtime record charts shall be available for review by the department steward and a current copy of the overtime record charts shall be posted in the department.
- c. Employees who refuse overtime will be charged with such overtime hours as overtime worked. An employee absent for vacation will not be considered for overtime.
- d. A new employee or an employee who changes classifications, department or shift will be charged, at that time, with overtime equal to the greatest amount of overtime charged to any employee in the classification in the department and on the shift to which he changes.
- e. When overtime work is scheduled, the City will notify employees involved at least twenty-four hours in advance of such scheduled overtime. When unscheduled overtime is required the City will, except in unforeseen circumstances, notify the employee at least two hours before the end of the shift immediately preceding the overtime. Any improper scheduling shall be corrected only by offers of subsequent overtime assignments as they become available.
- f. If an employee suffers a loss due to improper scheduling of overtime he must inform his supervisor, and if he has in fact missed an overtime opportunity, he shall be offered the next available assignment. The City agrees that an employee will suffer no loss of compensation in the event that the next assignment, so offered, is not at the same pay level as the assignment missed.
- g. If an employee feels he will suffer a loss due to improper scheduling of overtime, he must
  inform his supervisor of the situation prior to the last hour of his shift immediately preceding
  the scheduled overtime. If no adjustment is made and a subsequent grievance substantiates the
  improper scheduling he shall be offered the next available overtime assignment.
- It is understood that allowances for overtime differences due to special work requirements and/or emergencies may be necessary. However, such allowances will be discussed with the Union.
- i. Overtime for all employees will be equalized on January 1 and July 1 of each year.

9. All employees must provide a telephone number where they may be called for overtime purposes. Failure on the part of the employee to keep the City informed of his/her current address and telephone number or place at which or through which he/she might be contacted shall relieve the City of its responsibility in calling an employee for overtime work.

10. An employee who is required to work overtime and who works ten (10) or more continuous and successive hours, excluding the scheduled meal time, will be allowed a sufficient time and arrangements shall be made for him/her to have time to eat within the hour thereafter, and no time will be deducted for such meal period during such overtime work, it being understood that the period will be made as short as possible, and in no case to exceed thirty (30) minutes. An additional meal allowance will be allowed for each four hours of consecutive work performed thereafter. The City shall provide food and drinks at mealtime for employees when working overtime as referenced in this paragraph, unless inclement weather conditions do not allow due to restaurant closures. This provision does not apply to a four (4) day, ten (10) hours/day work week schedule of an employee.

11. No employee will be required to work through the scheduled lunch period, except that any employee who works through the scheduled lunch period at the request of the City will be paid for the lunch period, provided however, that an employee's lunch break shall not be deemed passed until he/she has been working on the job for a period of one and one-half hours past the mid-point of his/her work shift. No employee shall be forced to take an early time off to compensate him/her for time worked during a lunch period.

12. There shall be no changing of starting time in order to avoid the payment of overtime.

#### C. LUNCH AND BREAK PERIODS

Employees shall be granted two (2) paid fifteen (15) minute work breaks, one occurring in the first half of the shift and the second occurring in the second half of the work shift. Employees shall be granted an unpaid lunch period of thirty (30) minutes. Employees must take breaks onsite or at the nearest location that may have running hot/cold water. Employee must take lunches onsite, at the nearest location, or may return to their assigned shop. Included in these times is travel time to and from the job site.

#### **13. SEVERABILITY**

Should any article, paragraph or portion thereof of this Contract be held unlawful or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision of the court shall apply only to the specific article, paragraph or portion thereof as directly specified in the judgment, and upon issuance of such judgment, the parties hereto agree to negotiate a substitute for the invalidated article, paragraph or portion thereof

### **14. WAIVER IN EMERGENCY**

A. In cases of emergency declared by the President of the United States, the Governor of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, the Mayor of the City of Paducah, or the Federal or State Legislature, such as acts of God or civil disorder, the following conditions of this Agreement may be temporarily suspended:

1. Time limits for the processing of the grievance.

2. All agreements relating to the assignment of employees for the duration of the emergency period only.

3. Upon termination of the emergency, grievances filed prior to the emergency shall be processed in accordance with the provisions outlined in the grievance procedure of this Agreement and shall proceed from the point in the grievance procedure to which the grievance(s) had properly progressed, prior to the emergency.

### **15. LABOR/MANAGEMENT MEETINGS**

A. In the interest of sound labor/management relations, once each quarter on a mutually agreed date and time (or more frequent if mutually agreed), the employer's representatives shall meet with two (2) employee table officers of the Union to discuss pending problems and to promote a more harmonious labor/management relationship. Such meetings are to be limited to no more than two hours at a time. Meetings will be held during the Union representatives normal work time and they shall suffer no loss of pay. However, if the number of employee hours being spent on such meetings becomes excessive in management's opinion, the meetings shall be scheduled at times other than the employee's working hours.

B. An agenda will be exchanged by the parties at least three (3) working days in advance of the meeting with a list of matters to be discussed in the meeting and the names of those Union representatives who will be attending. Additions to the agenda may be included prior to the start of the meeting. The purpose of such meetings shall be to:

- 1. Discuss the administration of this Agreement.
- 2. Notify the Union of proposed changes by the Employer, which shall affect bargaining unit members.
- 3. Discuss grievances that have not been processed beyond the final step of the grievance procedure.
- 4. Disseminate general information of interest to the parties.
- 5. Discuss ways to increase productivity and improve effectiveness.
- 6. To consider and discuss health and safety measures relating to employees.
- 7. Other matters mutually agreed upon.

C. It is further agreed that if special labor/management meetings have been requested, and mutually agreed upon, they shall be convened as soon as possible.

### **16. DEFINITIONS**

A. "City" as used herein, the term "City" shall mean the City of Paducah and/or its governing body, the Board of Commissioners.

B. "Union" as used herein, the term "Union" shall mean the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL CIO, Local 1586 and/or its officers and executive board.

C. "Employees" as used herein, the term "employees" shall mean all permanent full time employees of the City who are members of the bargaining unit.

D. "Seasonal position" as used herein, the term "seasonal position" shall mean a position of employment with the City which may be annual in nature, but limited to a particular seasonal need of the City. Seasonal positions normally shall not exceed six months.

E. "Temporary Employees" Nothing herein shall prevent the City from hiring temporary employees. However, the city shall not hire temporary employees for the purposes of eroding the bargaining unit or to evade this agreement. Normally, these employees will be used for a limited period not to extend six months. However, due to unforeseen circumstances the need may arise to extend temporary employees beyond six months.

F. Each month the City Manager will present to the Commission a report listing all seasonal and temporary employees who have been employed for more than 6 months.

G. "Evening shift" as used herein, the term "evening shift" shall mean a regularly scheduled period for one or more employees in which more than one half the scheduled time is between the hours of 3:30 p.m. and 12:00 am.

H. "Night shift" as used herein, the term "night shift" shall mean a regularly scheduled work period for one or more employees in which more than one half the scheduled time is between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:30 am.

I. "Seniority' as used herein, the term "seniority" shall mean length of service as a permanent fulltime employee with the City. It is agreed and understood, however, that seniority shall be suspended during the probationary period of ninety (90) days immediately following a promotion to a higher classification, and shall also exclude all suspensions for disciplinary action.

J. It is agreed that any reference to his or her contained in this contract is intended to be gender neutral.

#### **17. MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

A. Except as expressly modified by a specific provision of this Agreement, the City retains its sole and exclusive rights to operate and manage its affairs in all respects. The exclusive rights of the City which are not abridged by this Agreement include, but are not limited to, its right to hire and be the sole judge of qualifications of applicants. The City has the right to direct the working forces, to discipline or discharge for just cause, to establish, maintain and modify departmental procedures; to lay-off and recall; to be the judge of whom to promote and the methods and procedures for promotions; to assign work; to transfer employees as needed from one group/area to another in a manner most advantageous to the City; to contract and subcontract with outside contractors; to establish, modify or change manning levels and the amount or type of equipment in the department, etc.; the right to direct employees of the department to include the right to hire, promote or transfer; the right to organize or reorganize the Department in any manner to include the determination of job classifications; the allocation and assignment of work to employees within the department that is advantageous to the City; to introduce new, improved or different methods and techniques of operation or to change existing methods and techniques of operation; to change, modify or purchase new types of equipment; to establish or eliminate in-service training programs and requirements for upgrading the skills of employees; to determine the location, methods, means and personnel by which operations are to be conducted; to establish, implement and maintain internal security practice; to schedule overtime, vacations, days off and holidays off; to take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out the mission of the City in emergency situations; any other rights the City has not expressly given up in this Agreement.

B. Failure by the City to exercise any of its rights shall not constitute a waiver of that right.

C. The above right and powers are vested in the City; however, the exercise of these rights shall be subject to the grievance procedure as expressly modified by the terms of this Agreement.

### **18. WORK RULES**

A. The Bargaining Unit recognizes that the City, in order to carry out its statutory mandates and goals, has the right to promulgate work rules, regulations, policies, procedures and general orders.

B. The City agrees that no work rules, regulations or employment policies shall be established that are in violation of any express terms of this Agreement.

C. Any additions or amendments to the work rules, regulations, policies, procedures and general orders shall be reduced to writing, posted on the department bulletin boards and copies distributed to members of the Bargaining Unit five (5) days prior to implementation; however this section does not limit the right of the City, to meet emergency or operational needs, to implement any work rules or regulations, policies, or general procedures prior to the conclusion of the five (5) day notification period. The addition or amendment will be dated and state its effective date. Each employee shall sign to acknowledge receipt of same.

#### **19. CIVIL SERVICE PROTECTION**

The City has eliminated Civil Service Status for all classifications, but the City will continue to offer Civil Service protection to Bargaining Unit employees that were hired under Civil Service. This protection will continue even after an employee transfers to another non-Civil Service status classification that has representation by the Bargaining Unit; however, promotions will be by merit. Employees utilizing Civil Service Protection will not have the grievance procedure available to them.

#### **20. TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENT**

A. When, due to the absence of a regular employee or for operational needs, a temporary assignment is available in a work unit the assignment shall first be offered to qualified employees in the work unit where the assignment exists. The assignment may be rotated among employees to facilitate the learning and training process for other employees or assigned to only previously qualified employees, depending on the immediate needs of the department. In the instance of a temporary assignment requiring greater than 90 days a rotation of qualified employees shall be used with each employee serving for a period of thirty days after the initial 90-day period.

B. An employee who is awarded a temporary assignment in a higher rank position shall receive the higher pay rate after he/she has worked four (4) continuous weeks (20 days worked). The adjusted wage rate will be paid in a manner corresponding with the actual dates working in said acting position. Once formal action has been taken to adjust the employee's pay rate, that pay rate will be applied back to the beginning of the temporary assignment. In instances where it is anticipated the assignment is to be for four (4) weeks or longer, the increase will be initiated immediately. An employee who is awarded an assignment in a lower rated position shall maintain his/her regular rate of pay. Employees filling positions of higher classification on an intermittent or short-term basis are expected to perform those duties as a part of their classification responsibility.

C. Employees who request in writing training to perform tasks that are not part of their normal job may be given temporary assignments for training purposes with no increase in pay. Each Department will maintain a training request sign-up sheet. Such training assignments without extra pay shall not be continued after an employee has demonstrated his competency to perform the assignment. The City shall adopt a City Policy on the work training program and shall receive input from an advisory committee of Union members.

#### **21. MISCELLANEOUS**

A. The Union and bargaining unit employees shall have access to Union bulletin boards for the purpose of posting Union and other notices. All postings shall have the department director's stamp of approval for posting. It is understood that no material may be posted on any bulletin boards by the Union which contain (a) personal attacks on any other member or any other employee; (b) scandalous, scurrilous or derogatory attacks upon the City, or any other governmental units or officials; and (c) attacks on and/or favorable comments regarding a candidate for public office.

B. At least once each quarter the City will provide electronically to the Treasurer of the Union a roster of employees, showing the date hired, classification, department, home address with phone and designating those employees for whom the Union has not provided dues payroll authorization forms to the City. The Union shall furnish the City with a quarterly up to date list of names of Union executive board members, in writing, to the City Manager.

C. Accredited representatives of AFSCME, whether local, district council, or international representative shall have the full and free access to the premises of the City, involving work areas of bargaining unit employees and City Administrative offices at City Hall for the purpose of attending meetings, discussing personnel matters, contract disputes with City officials or department heads, safety inspections or alleged violations of the contract, subject to prior notification and approval of the City and with the understanding that work time interference will be kept at a minimum.

D. Supervisory personnel may perform non-supervisory work as time permits. However, it is understood that a supervisor has primary responsibility in supervising employees and facilitating them in the accomplishment of their work.

E. The City and the Union agree that employees work primarily in their classifications. However, employees may be required to assist others in their department and such work may or may not be in their classification. Nothing herein entitles Bargaining Unit employees to perform work for other City employees that are performing minor maintenance, cleanup or incidental work related to the other City employees job, e.g., hanging pictures, painting , moving furniture, lawn care, washing vehicles, cleaning restrooms, etc. Training and safety will be primary considerations by management in the assignment of work in all departments throughout the City.

F. The City will permit vending machines to be installed in all departments for the benefit of the employees.

G. Whenever practical the City shall place tops and windshields on equipment to protect employees from adverse weather conditions.

H. The City shall furnish and maintain individual lockers for all employees covered by this Agreement.

I. The City agrees that supervisors of employees, within the bargaining unit, shall make reasonable effort to recognize seniority when assigning work to the employees, but it is understood that the primary consideration must remain; qualifications, efficiency in a skill, and the proper completion of the work to be done. An employee wishing to express a preference for a type of work may make it known to his immediate supervisor in order to have consideration on future assignments. This provision shall apply primarily to specific classifications within a particular department.

J. City supervisors and employees will not use profane or abusive language toward one another in the performance of their job.

K. Work Group Leaders will be appointed by management and in compliance with City Ordinance as they are needed to facilitate the efficient progress of work. Appointments will be made based on qualification and performance with the length of appointment being at the discretion of management. An employee appointed to a Group Leader position will receive additional \$0.50/hour compensation.

L. The City agrees in its hiring practice to give its current team members preference in appointment in a vacant union represented position. The City agrees that internal applicants will be considered alongside external applicants but all internal applicants will be interviewed and receive a practical exam when applicable.

### **22. OUTSIDE CONTRACTING**

A. It is the intent of the City to make every effort to utilize its employees to perform work that they have normally and historically performed. However, nothing herein shall be deemed a limitation on the City's right to contract with outside contractors.

B. In the event the City contemplates or proposes to contract out work that could cause the layoff of employees or a reduction of the employees in the bargaining unit, management will notify the Union at least 60 days prior to taking such action.

C. A labor management meeting shall be held promptly to discuss the impact of outside contracting on employees, the feasibility of the proposed third party contracting and the potential for preventing erosion of the Bargaining Unit.

D. The Union will be notified of any other contracting out that the City intends to propose or award.

E. Typically, the City will contract out work where expertise and/or equipment of other vendors are needed, the volume of work is beyond the immediate capacity of the department to handle or the City is at a cost competitive disadvantage to handle the work.

### 23. SAFETY

In the event a job situation or item of equipment is reasonably challenged by an employee as a serious threat to his safety, he shall notify his immediate supervisor, immediate superintendent, and his steward. If the matter is not resolved to the satisfaction of the employee, he may take the matter up with his department director, together with the supervisor and steward who will consult the applicable Kentucky OSHA regulations in making their decisions. If the matter remains unresolved, the department director will notify the HR Director, who will make the final determination in the matter. Any further challenge by the employee may be handled through the grievance procedure or through the Kentucky OSHA regulations as provided by law.

# 24. PROBATIONARY PERIOD

A. All new employees with the City and newly promoted employees shall serve a six (6) month probationary period. No newly hired probationary employee may be a member of the union.

B. A probationary employee may be terminated at any time during his/her probationary period and have no appeal through the Grievance Procedure.

C. A newly promoted employee will be allowed to return to his/her previous classification, a classification previously held or a classification in which he/she is qualified provided there is an available opening. The employee will have up to thirty (30) days to exercise this option.

# **25. CONTINUITY OF OPERATION**

A. The services performed by the City of Paducah employees are governmental in nature and are essential to the public's safety and welfare. Accordingly, it is agreed that there shall be no strikes during the life of this agreement.

B. It is further understood and agreed that any refusal on the part of any employee to cross a picket line at some other place, when the same is necessary to perform the duties assigned by the City of Paducah, shall entitle the City of Paducah to perform the work by any means available.

C. The city of Paducah agrees that it will not lock out its employees during the life of this agreement in support of its bargaining position or to require the Union to concede to its grievance.

## **26. WAGE AND BENEFITS**

A. Life Insurance

The City shall pay for each bargaining unit employee the full premium for a \$15,000 group life insurance policy.

B. Wages

1. Employee classifications and wages are established and changed by City ordinance. Changes in classification and/or compensation shall be reviewed with the Union prior to adoption by the City. The following classifications and base wages will be in effect on the following dates:

CLASSIFICATION	Hour Rate as of 06-28-23	July 2023 (FY24) + 6.0%	July 2024 (FY25) + 4.0%	July 2025 (FY26) + 3.0%
MAINTENANCE TECHINICIAN	\$22.31	\$23.65	\$24.59	\$25.33
TRAFFIC TECHNICIAN	\$22.31	\$23.65	\$24.59	\$25.33
FLOODWALL OPERATOR	\$22.92	\$24.30	\$25.27	\$26.03
COMPOST / EQUIPMENT OPERATOR	\$23.15	\$24.54	\$25.52	\$26.29
CONCRETE FINISHER	\$22.14	\$23.47	\$24.41	\$25.14
ROW MAINTENANCE PERSON	\$21.43	\$22.72	\$23.62	\$24.33
SOLID WASTE TRUCK DRIVER	\$21.89	\$23.20	\$24.13	\$24.86
LABORER	\$19.95	\$21.15	\$21.99	\$22.65
JANITOR / COLLECTOR	\$19.48	\$20.65	\$21.47	\$22.12

2. Each employee shall receive longevity pay of seven dollars (\$7.00) per month for each year of continuous service up to and including twenty (20) years.

3. Payment for such service shall commence in the anniversary month of service. All vacation time, sick leave and authorized leave of absence shall constitute service for the purpose of this provision.

4. Graduated Wage Scale will apply to all employees hired after January 30, 1998. Graduated Wage Scale will apply to (all) classifications. Graduated Wage Scale will start on the newly Hired employee's date of hire with a minimum hire rate of 80% of maximum, and increase 5% every six months until the employee reaches 100%.

As an example:

Initial hire rate 80% Six month anniversary 85% Twelve month anniversary 90% Eighteen month anniversary 95% Twenty four month anniversary 100%

5. The City may hire new employees into skilled positions at wage rates between 80% and 100% of the full wage for the position needing to be filled, based upon the relevant qualifications of the applicant. In the event an employee is hired above 80% of the wage rate for a position, the City agrees to consider the qualifications of incumbent employees in the same position for consideration of pay equity for comparable qualifications. In all cases when an employee is hired above the 80% wage rate for a given position the City will provide written notice to the Union.

6. Employees leaving the City due to resignation, retirement, or termination will receive all monies currently due him on the next pay period. Payroll can NOT be completed for any terminated employee until all City issued clothing/equipment is certified as returned by the appropriate supervisor.

7. If an error results in an employee receiving less pay than is due him, the error will be corrected on the employee's next paycheck. Hardship cases, those with a net error of \$200 or greater with base pay and for other than overtime calculations, will result in the City providing a make-up check on the next business day after notification of the error.

8. Employees who work on the evening or night shift shall receive a shift premium of thirty five (35) cents per hour for work performed on the evening shift, and a premium of fifty (50) cents per hour for work performed on the night shift.

9. The City will pay all employees bi-weekly by direct deposit to an approved financial institution of their choosing.

### **27. INDIVIDUAL AGREEMENT**

The City agrees not to enter into any Agreement or contract with employees, individually or collectively, which in any manner conflicts with the terms and provisions of this agreement. Employees are allowed to work as referees and/or umpires in a non-collective bargaining capacity.

#### **28. DURATION**

A. The Agreement, when signed by the duly authorized officers of the City and the Union, shall become effective as of July 1, 2023, and shall remain in full force and effect through the 30th day of June, 2026.

B. Negotiations

1. Between November 1 and 15, 2025 either party may request in writing that negotiations be opened to modify or renew this Agreement. Within 10 days of receipt of the request to open negotiations the parties will meet and schedule at least four (4) negotiating meetings to be held between January 2 and March 1, 2026. Failure to reach tentative agreement in this timeframe will result in a ninety (90) day suspension of negotiations. On or about June 1 negotiations will resume and if the parties come to an impasse, either party may request mediation services through the Kentucky Labor Cabinet and the current Bargaining Agreement will be extended for thirty (30) days. If there is no resolution through mediation or if the parties elect not to use mediation, then the City will present its last, best, final offer to the Bargaining Unit for ratification vote.

2. In any event, nothing herein contained shall preclude either party from modifying or changing or amending its proposals for a new Agreement. The City and Union each have entered into this Agreement pursuant to duly adopted ordinances and resolution authorizing same.

3. The City agrees to pay three (3) employees representing the Bargaining Unit at the straight time hourly rate for up to four (4) hours for each meeting up to a maximum of five (5) meetings for negotiations of a new Collective Bargaining Agreement if the employee time lost is during normal work hours.

#### **SIGNATURE PAGE**

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hand this  $13^{+1}$  day of June, 2023. This agreement shall become effective upon signature of the parties.

For The City of Paducah, Kentucky

George Bray, Mayor

for The American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO Local 1586

12 perch

David Shockley, President

WITNESS: avlor Smith red Griffin